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Chairperson’s Message

As part of the dynamic BDO family, BDO Private Bank has continuously worked to find ways to 
enhance our expertise and raise the level of our wealth advisory services to the affluent market so 
that we can deliver more value for the niche clientele and stockholders. With our open architecture 

philosophy, we remain the first and only private wealth management entity of its kind in the Philippine 
banking industry.

I am happy to let you know that over the past year, we have significantly expanded our wealth advisory 
client base. They see the value of a domestic private bank as their wealth management partner. In 2007 our 
total resources expanded to P24 billion and total capital amounted to P3.57 billion, earning a net income 
of P459 million.

In the coming year, we will continue to reinforce our lasting, value-added relationships with our clients 
and stockholders by building on opportunities for successful innovations through expert advice and unique 
solutions. That way, we can look forward to making BDO Private Bank the client’s advisor of choice for 
wealth management solutions and the benchmark for domestic private banking services.

Teresita T. Sy-Coson
Chairperson
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In 2007, the Philippine economy showed its fastest growth since the late 1980s, overcoming domestic political 
noise and the US subprime fallout to report a healthy GDP of 7.3%. Most economic targets were achieved, 
with inflation averaging 2.8% versus the 4%-5% target for the year – this in spite of the hefty 65% crude 

oil price hike in the world market. The government defied consensus forecasts and posted a budget deficit of P12 
Billion, better than its 2007 target level of P63 Billion. The significant increase in revenue collections was partly 
aided by the success of the government’s privatization efforts, which generated P90 Billion in asset sale. The 
country’s gross international reserves soared to US$33.7 Billion in 2007 from US$23 Billion in 2006, boosted by 
the US$15 Billion in Overseas Filipino Workers’ (OFW) remittances.

The strengthening macro-economic fundamentals provided a positive backdrop to the local capital markets, with 
the 91-day Treasury bill rate settling below 5%, the Peso gaining 16% vis-a-vis the U.S. dollar to 41.28 and the 
Philippine Stock Exchange Index (PSEi) rising by 23% to 3,622 points. 

Given the favorable macro-economic fundamentals, BDO Private Bank’s Assets Under Management (AUM) 
soared by 55.5% as our customer base expanded by 44% while resources grew by 10% to P24.56 Billion. Total 
capital reached P3.58 Billion, net of the P500 Million cash dividend declared last year. The Bank’s revenues 
increased 17% driven by the growth in fee-based income. Net income reached P459 Million in 2007. 

Inspired by our clients’ enthusiastic acceptance and deeper understanding of the unique, customized wealth 
advisory services we offer, BDO Private Bank forged ahead on the expansion plans we had laid out for the year. 
We welcomed clients to our upgraded marketing lounges in Greenhills and Binondo and began preparations 
for similar setups in the Visayas and Mindanao in 2008 – concrete proof of our pledge to expand to previously 
underserved markets, as well as establish a more formidable regional presence.

BDO Private Bank is pleased with the success we have earned in our value proposition on accessibility, open 
architecture philosophy, bespoke services, and smart execution. Though we take pride in these accomplishments in 
the domestic private banking business, we are not resting on our achievements. Having completed the integration 
and expansion plans we charted for ourselves, we now concentrate on exemplifying greater competitiveness as 
well as increased differentiation from those who have followed our lead in the industry. We have committed to 
invest further in human resource development and appropriate technology to enhance our effectiveness and 
expertise. By always striving to perfect our engagement as well as our capability and readiness to create additional 
value, we move strides ahead toward realizing for our clients their desire for a secure future.

Review of Operations

Josefina N. Tan
President
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Teresita T. Sy-Coson
Chairperson

Josefina N. Tan
President

Nestor V. Tan
Director

Gregory L. Domingo
Director

Pedro E.O. Roxas
Director

Elizabeth T. Sy
Director

Peter D. Garrucho, Jr.
Director

Alfonso A. Uygongco
Director

Harley T. Sy
Advisor

Roderico V. Puno
Corporate Secretary

Jose T. Sio*
Director

*Served until November 2007



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Accountability and transparency are of prime importance to BDO Private Bank (the “Bank”) and focus on these was achieved while maintaining 
operational efficiency.  A disciplined approach and management commitment are built into the infrastructure and work of the Bank’s various working 
committees and operating business lines.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee is created under the Bank’s By-Laws and authorized by resolution to act on behalf of the Board of Directors in-between 
board meetings on urgent matters referred by Management pertaining to anti-money laundering, compliance, bank signatories, manuals, policies or 
procedures, and other matters of an urgent nature where action or inaction may result in loss, including opportunity loss, injury, liability, damage or 
prejudice to the Bank.  The Executive Committee is composed of directors and meets as necessary to pass upon matters referred to it.  It is chaired by 
Teresita T. Sy-Coson, with members Nestor V. Tan, Jose T. Sio*, and Josefina N. Tan.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee acts on behalf of the Board to provide oversight of the Bank’s financial reporting and control as well as internal and external audit 
functions.  It reviews and assesses the Bank’s annual audit plan, its system of internal controls, and regular financial and audit reports.  The internal 
auditor and the independent external auditor report to the Committee.  The Audit Committee is composed of members of the Board, at least two of 
whom are independent directors, including the Chairman, with accounting, auditing or related financial management expertise or experience, and meets 
at least once quarterly.  It is chaired by Pedro E. O. Roxas, with members Peter D. Garrucho, Jr. and Gregory L. Domingo.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee assists the Board of Directors in shaping the Bank’s corporate governance policies and practices, recommends 
applicable guidelines, and monitors compliance with said policies and practices.  The Committee also oversees the annual performance self-evaluation 
of the Board.  Where needed, it recommends measures for the directors’ continuing education and succession plan.  It also exercises oversight over the 
Bank’s compliance function.  The Committee is composed of at least three members of the Board, two of whom are independent directors, and meets as 
needed to perform its duties but no less than once a year. It is chaired by Peter D. Garrucho, Jr., with members Pedro E. O. Roxas and Jose T. Sio*. 

CREDIT COMMITTEE

The Credit Committee is responsible for the review and approval of the Bank’s loans and investments as well as other credit-related issues.  It assesses 
the viability of credit and investment proposals (except those involving DOSRI or related party accounts), with specific attention to the appropriateness 
of the credit extension and risks involved.  The Credit Committee meets at least twice weekly, and is composed of at least three members of the Board 
including the President and such members of senior management appointed/designated by the Board. It is chaired by Teresita T. Sy-Coson, with 
members Nestor V. Tan and Josefina N. Tan.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for the Bank’s risk management program, which includes policy development and oversight over the 
Bank’s credit, market, liquidity, and operations risk exposures.  It oversees the system of limits of discretionary authority that the Board delegates to 
management, ensuring that these are observed and any breaches are immediately corrected.  It establishes the framework for reporting risk to the Board 
including the assessment on the probability and potential impact of each identified risk exposure of the Bank.  The Risk Management Committee is 
composed of at least three Directors who possess a range of expertise as well as adequate knowledge of the Bank’s risk exposures, and meets at least once 
a month or as may be required to perform its duties and responsibilities.  It is chaired by Nestor V. Tan, with members Jose T. Sio*, Josefina N. Tan, and 
Bienvenido M. Juat, Jr.

TRUST COMMITTEE

The Trust Committee is created under the Bank’s By-Laws and is responsible for administering the Bank’s trust department and, in the interim between 
meetings of the Board of Directors, possesses and exercises all the powers of the Board of Directors in the administration, management and direction of 
the trust and fiduciary business of the Bank.  The Trust Committee is composed of the President, the Trust Officer, three directors who are not operating 
officers of the Bank or members of the Audit Committee, and meets at least once in every calendar quarter. It is chaired by Nestor V. Tan, with members 
Jose T. Sio*, Josefina N. Tan, Elizabeth T. Sy, and Gamalielh A. O. Benavides.

*until November 7, 2007
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Teresita T. Sy-Coson
Chairperson of the Board

Josefina N. Tan
President

Agnes B. Santos
Vice President, Financial Control

The management of BDO Private Bank, Inc. is responsible for all information and representations contained in the financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2007. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and reflect 
amounts that are based on the best estimates and informed judgment of management with an appropriate consideration to materiality.

In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary internal controls to ensure that transactions 
are properly authorized and recorded, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition and liabilities are recognized.

The Board of Directors reviews the financial statements before such statements are approved and submitted to the stockholders of the company.

Punongbayan & Araullo, the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, has examined the financial statements of the company in accordance 
with Philippine Standards on Auditing and has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such examination, in its report 
to the stockholders.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BDO Private Bank, Inc. which comprise the statements of condition as at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and 
the income statements, statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements for the years then ended, and notes to financial statements comprising of a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.  This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on 
Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of BDO Private Bank, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO

By: Romualdo V. Murcia III
 Partner
 CPA Reg. No. 0095626
 TIN 906-174-059
 PTR No. 0986667, January 4, 2008, Makati City
 SEC Accreditation No. 0628-A
 BIR AN 08-002511-22-2007 (Dec. 3, 2007 to 2010)

March 26, 2008
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BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.)

STATEMENTS OF CONDITION
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.)

INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes 2007 2006
RESOURCES

DUE FROM BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS P                 1,065,291,442 P                 1,961,855,285

DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 4 3,768,120,412 2,153,968,549

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 7,230,616,443 7,341,851,377

Available-for-sale securities 6 5,755,300,681 5,805,078,621

Held-to-maturity investments 7 5,326,120,743 4,065,813,561

LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 8 1,348,017,582 739,023,976

BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES
AND EQUIPMENT - Net 9 38,142,045 45,232,907

OTHER RESOURCES 10 35,100,933 58,427,373

TOTAL RESOURCES P               24,566,710,281 22,171,251,649

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 11

Demand P                 2,043,553,204 P                 2,484,229,321

Time 10,467,457,499 5,956,930,937

Total Deposit Liabilities 12,511,010,703 8,441,160,258

BILLS PAYABLE 12 7,734,246,311 9,482,770,194

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 13 632,975,898 328,102,331

ACCRUED TAXES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 14 115,677,715 96,827,217

Total Liabilities 20,993,910,627 18,348,860,000

EQUITY 15 3,572,799,654 3,822,391,649

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P               24,566,710,281 P               22,171,251,649

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Notes 2007 2006
INTEREST INCOME ON

Available-for-sale securities 6 P                    427,441,773 P                    385,878,093

Held-to-maturity investments 7 365,911,194 285,043,279

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 315,892,135 672,378,433

Due from other banks 4 160,008,349 89,576,359

Loans and other receivables 8 125,144,589 31,736,567

1,394,398,040 1,464,612,731

INTEREST EXPENSE ON

Deposit liabilities 11 559,045,499 313,281,828

Bills payable 12, 20 390,741,102 654,782,109

949,786,601 968,063,937

NET INTEREST INCOME 444,611,439 496,548,794

OTHER INCOME

Trading and securities gain - net 5, 7, 13 227,834,671 215,705,178

Foreign exchange gain - net 94,897,733 69,342,710

Service charges, fees and commissions 20 44,566,896 31,111,281

Others 6 98,958,623 7,697,671

466,257,923 323,856,840

OTHER EXPENSES

Taxes and licenses 110,362,498 102,239,882

Employee benefits 18 105,425,573 67,916,863

Occupancy 21 20,215,105 19,596,204

Insurance 19,832,164 9,469,553

Depreciation and amortization 9, 10 17,995,173 18,049,838

Representation and entertainment 15,297,107 15,230,798

Third party information 16 12,324,147 12,750,876

Others 17 69,016,761 52,482,806

370,468,528 297,736,820

INCOME BEFORE TAX 540,400,834 522,668,814

TAX EXPENSE 19 81,291,267 65,399,754

NET INCOME P                    459,109,567 P                    457,269,060

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes

Share Capital (Note 15)
Deposit for 

Future
Stock 

Subscription
(Note 15)

Surplus (Note 15)
Fair Value Gains 

(Losses) on 
Available-for-sale

Securities 
(Note 15)

Total
Equity

Preferred 
Stock

Common 
Stock Appropriated Free

Balance as of January 1, 2006 P 1,225,000,000 P 625,000,000 P 315,000,000 P      5,246,538 P 1,057,251,030 P   180,183,848 P  3,407,681,416

Transfer of deposit to common 
stock 15 - 315,000,000 ( 315,000,000 ) - - - -

Fair value losses during the year 
- net 6 - - - - -  ( 42,558,827) ( 42,558,827)

Transfer to surplus reserves - - - 2,400,000 (  2,400,000 ) - -

Net income for the year - - - - 457,269,060 - 457,269,060

Balance as of December 31, 2006 P 1,225,000,000 P 940,000,000 P         - P      7,646,538 P 1,512,120,090 P   137,625,021 P  3,822,391,649

Balance as of January 1, 2007 P 1,225,000,000 P 940,000,000 P         - P      7,646,538 P 1,512,120,090 P   137,625,021 P  3,822,391,649

Fair value losses during the year 
- net 6 - - - - - ( 208,586,562) ( 208,586,562)

Transfer to surplus reserves - - - 6,192,000 ( 6,192,000 ) - -

Net income for the year - - - - 459,109,567 - 459,109,567

Cash dividends 15 - - - -  ( 500,115,000) -  ( 500,115,000)

Balance as of December 31, 2007 P 1,225,000,000 P 940,000,000 P         - P    13,838,538 P 1,464,922,657 ( P     70,961,541) P  3,572,799,654

Loss directly recognized in equity

2006  (P       42,558,827)

2007  (P     208,586,562 )

                
 See Notes to Financial Statements.

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.)

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes 2007 2006
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income before tax P            540,400,834 P            522,668,814

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 9, 10 17,995,173 18,049,838

Fair value losses 66,603,480 68,606,310

Interest expense 949,786,601 968,063,937

Interest income ( 1,394,398,040 )  ( 1,464,612,731 )

Operating income before changes in resources and liabilities 180,388,048 112,776,168

Increase in available-for-sale securities 6 ( 158,808,622 )  ( 469,245,780 )

Increase in loans and other receivables ( 608,993,606 )  ( 199,612,989 )

Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 349,505,021 ( 2,572,032,002 )

Decrease (increase) in other resources 14,548,243 ( 68,240,456 )

Increase in deposit liabilities 4,069,850,445 4,636,937,512

Increase (decrease) in accrued taxes and other liabilities ( 4,837,271 ) 33,851,875

Cash generated from operations 3,841,652,258 1,474,434,328

Interest received 1,325,694,610 1,467,407,760

Interest paid ( 920,717,039 )  ( 978,185,272 )

Cash paid for income taxes ( 11,699,095 )  ( 12,293,118 )

Net Cash From Operating Activities 4,234,930,734 1,951,363,698

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net acquisitions of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 9 ( 8,396,649 )  ( 31,356,231 )

Increase in held-to-maturity investments 7 ( 1,260,307,182 )  ( 1,431,557,959 )

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities ( 1,268,703,831 )  ( 1,462,914,190 )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase (decrease) in bills payable ( 1,748,523,883 ) 1,685,781,679

Dividends paid 15 ( 500,115,000 ) -

Net Cash From (Used in) Financing Activities ( 2,248,638,883 ) 1,685,781,679

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND OTHER CASH EQUIVALENTS 717,588,020 2,174,231,187

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 1,961,855,285 612,568,546

Due from Other Banks 2,153,968,549 1,329,024,101

4,115,823,834 1,941,592,647

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 1,065,291,442 1,961,855,285

Due from Other Banks 4 3,768,120,412 2,153,968,549

P         4,833,411,854 P         4,115,823,834

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

On December 22, 1995, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) authorized BDO Private Bank, Inc. (the Bank) to operate as a commercial bank. 
The Bank was incorporated in the Philippines to engage in banking activities, as well as to engage in and carry on the business of a trust company 
and to operate a foreign currency deposit unit.

The Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc. (BDO), a listed bank incorporated and domiciled in the Philippines. BDO 
is authorized to operate as an expanded commercial bank and to engage in trust and foreign currency deposit operations.

The Bank’s registered office, which is also its principal place of business, is located at the 27th Floor, Tower One, Ayala Triangle, Ayala Avenue, 
Makati City. The registered office of BDO is at 12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City.

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2007 (including the comparatives for the year ended December 31, 2006) 
were authorized for issue by the Bank’s Board of Directors (Board) on March 26, 2008.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized below.  The policies have 
been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements
 
(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).  PFRSs are 
adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board.  

 The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by PFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and 
expense.  These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial assets.  The 
measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies that follow.

(b) Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s functional currency, and all values represent absolute amounts except 
when otherwise indicated (see also Note 2.8).

2.2 Impact of New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations to Existing Standards
 
(a) Effective in 2007 that are Relevant to the Bank
 

In 2007, the Bank adopted for the first time the following new and amended PFRS which are mandatory for accounting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2007.  

Philippine Accounting Standard 
  (PAS) 1 (Amendment)   :  Presentation of Financial Statements
 PFRS 7    : Financial Instruments:  Disclosures
 Philippine Interpretation
  IFRIC 9    :       Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Discussed below are the impact on the financial statements of these new accounting standards.

(i) PAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements.  PAS 1 introduces new disclosures on the Bank’s capital management objectives, 
policies and procedures in each annual financial report.  The amendments to PAS 1 were introduced to complement the adoption of 
PFRS 7.  The new disclosures that became necessary due to this change in PAS 1 can be found in Note 2.16.

(ii) PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures.  PFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  
It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, 
particularly:

• a sensitivity analysis, to explain the Bank’s market risk exposure in regard to its financial instruments;, and

• a maturity analysis that shows the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities.

PFRS 7 replaced PAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements 
in PAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and Presentation.  The new disclosures under PFRS 7 are required to be made for all periods 
presented.  However, the Bank availed of the transitional relief granted by the FRSC and presented only the relevant new disclosures required 
by PFRS 7 for 2007 (see Note 2.14).

(iii) Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives. This standard clarifies the assessment of whether an embedded 
derivative is required to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative when the entity first becomes a party to 
the contract.  Subsequent reassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the 
cash flows that otherwise would be required under the contract, in which case reassessment is required.  Because the Bank has neither 
reassessed its embedded derivatives nor modified the related host contracts, the adoption of this Philippine Interpretation had no impact 
on the Bank’s financial statements.

The first time application of these standards and amendments has not resulted in any prior period adjustments of cash flows, net income or 
statement of condition line items.

(b) Effective in 2007 but not Relevant to the Bank

PFRS 4 (Amendment) : Insurance Contracts
Philippine Interpretation
 IFRIC 7 : Applying the Restatement Approach      
    under PAS 29, Financial Reporting
    in Hyper Inflationary Economies  
Philippine Interpretation 
 IFRIC 8  :  Scope of PFRS 2
Philippine Interpretation 
 IFRIC 10 : Interim Financial Reporting and 
    Impairment

(c) Effective Subsequent to 2007

There are new and amended standards and Philippine Interpretations that are effective for periods subsequent to 2007.  The following new 
standards are relevant to the Bank and will be applied in accordance with their transitional provisions.

2008:
 Philippine Interpretation
  IFRIC 14 : PAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit      
     Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements 
     and their Interaction

2009:
 PAS 1 (Revised 2007) : Presentation of Financial Statements
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Below is a discussion of the possible impact of these accounting standards: 

(i) Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 
(effective from January 1, 2008).  This Philippine Interpretation provides general guidance on how to assess the limit in PAS 19, 
Employee Benefits, on the amount of the surplus that can be recognized as an asset.  It standardizes practice and ensures that entities 
recognize an asset in relation to a surplus on a consistent basis.  As any excess of the asset over the obligation is fully refundable to the 
Bank based on the set-up of the pension trust fund, the Bank has determined that the adoption of this Philippine Interpretation will 
not materially affect its financial statements.

(ii) PAS 1 (Revised 2007), Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from January 1, 2009).  The amendment requires an entity to 
present all items of income and expense recognized in the period in a single statement of comprehensive income or in two statements: 
a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income.  The income statement shall disclose income and expense 
recognized in profit and loss in the same way as the current version of PAS 1.  The statement of comprehensive income shall disclose 
profit or loss for the period, plus each component of income and expense recognized outside of profit and loss classified by nature 
(e.g., gains or losses on available-for-sale assets or translation differences related to foreign operations).  Changes in equity arising from 
transactions with owners are excluded from the statement of comprehensive income (e.g., dividends and capital increase).  An entity 
would also be required to include in its set of financial statements a statement showing its financial position (or balance sheet) at the 
beginning of the previous period when the entity retrospectively applies an accounting policy or makes a retrospective restatement.  
The Bank will apply PAS 1 (Revised 2007) in its 2009 financial statements.

2.3 Financial Instruments

2.3.1 Financial Assets

Financial assets include cash and other financial instruments.  Financial assets, other than hedging instruments, are classified into the following 
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial 
assets.  Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired.  The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated at every reporting date at which date a choice of classification or 
accounting treatment is available, subject to compliance with specific provisions of applicable accounting standards.

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts due from BSP and other banks.  Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits 
and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

All financial assets are recognized on their trade date.  All financial assets that are not classified as at fair value through profit or loss are initially 
recognized at fair value, plus transaction costs.  Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value and 
transaction costs are expensed in the income statement.

The foregoing categories of financial instruments are more fully described below.

(a) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

This category includes financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or are designated by the entity to be carried at fair value 
through profit or loss upon initial recognition.  A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
it in the near term or if so designated by management.  Derivatives are also categorized as ‘held for trading’ unless they are designated as 
hedges. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets included in this category are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized 
in profit or loss.  Financial assets originally designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may not subsequently be 
reclassified.

(b) Loans and Receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They 
arise when the Bank provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. 

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses.  Any change 
in their value is recognized in profit or loss.  Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be able to 
collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the original terms of the receivables.  The amount of the impairment loss is determined as 
the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows.

(c) Held-to-maturity Investments

This includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and a fixed date of maturity.  Investments are classified 
as held-to-maturity if the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold them until maturity.  Investments intended to be held for an 
undefined period are not included in this classification.

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  In addition, if there is objective evidence 
that the investment has been impaired, the financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated cash flows.  Any changes to the 
carrying amount of the investment are recognized in profit or loss.  Should the Bank sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-
maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale securities.  The tainting provision will not apply 
if the sales or reclassifications of held-to-maturity investments are so close to maturity or the financial asset’s call date that changes in the 
market rate of interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value; occur after the Bank has collected substantially all 
of the financial asset’s original principal through scheduled payments or prepayments; or are attributable to an isolated event that is beyond 
the control of the Bank, is nonrecurring and could not have been reasonably anticipated by the Bank.

(d) Available-for-sale Financial Assets  

This includes non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other 
categories of financial assets.  

All financial assets within this category are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at fair value, 
unless otherwise disclosed, with changes in value recognized in capital funds, net of any effects arising from income taxes.  Gains and losses 
arising from securities classified as available-for-sale are recognized in the income statement when they are sold or when the investment is 
impaired.  

In the case of impairment, the cumulative loss previously recognized directly in capital funds is transferred to the income statement.  If 
circumstances change, impairment losses on available-for-sale equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.  On the 
other hand, if in a subsequent period the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in income statement, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the income statement.

For investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to exchange quoted market bid prices 
at the close of business on the statement of condition date.  For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined by 
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the 
underlying net asset base of the investment.
 
Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognized in profit or loss when earned, regardless of 
how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.
 
Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire or are transferred and substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

2.3.2 Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting

The Bank is a party to various foreign currency forward contracts, cross-currency and interest rate swaps.  These contracts are entered into as a service 
to customers and as a means of reducing or managing the Bank’s foreign exchange and interest rate exposure as well as for trading purposes. 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at 
their fair value.  Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets and valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow 
models and options pricing models, as appropriate.  All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value 
is negative.

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e., the fair value of the consideration given or 
received) unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable 
markets.  When such evidence exists, the Bank recognizes the profits on day one.

For more complex instruments, the Bank uses proprietary models, which usually are developed from recognized valuation models.  Some or all of 
the inputs into these models may not be market observable, and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based on assumptions.  
When entering into a transaction, the financial instrument is recognized initially at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value, 
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although the value obtained from the valuation model may differ from the transaction price.  This initial difference, usually an increase, in fair value 
indicated by valuation techniques is recognized in income depending upon the individual facts and circumstances of each transaction and not later 
than when the market data becomes observable.

The value produced by a model or other valuation technique is adjusted to allow for a number of factors as appropriate, because valuation 
techniques cannot appropriately reflect all factors market participants take into account when entering into a transaction.  Valuation adjustments 
are recorded to allow for model risks, bid-ask spreads, liquidity risks, and other factors.  Management believes that these valuation adjustments are 
necessary and appropriate to fairly state financial instruments carried at fair value on the statement of condition.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as credit default swaps in a credit linked note, are treated as separate derivatives 
when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value 
through profit or loss.  These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized as part of Trading and Securities 
Gain in the income statement.  The change in fair value of derivative financial instruments is recognized in profit or loss except when their effect 
qualifies as hedging instrument.

Except for derivatives that qualify as a hedging instrument, change in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in profit or loss.  The method of 
recognizing the resulting fair value gain or loss on derivative that is designated as a hedging instrument, depends on the type of hedging relationship.  
The Bank designates certain derivatives as hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognized asset or liability.  Hedge 
accounting is used for derivatives designated in this way provided certain criteria are met.

The Bank documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.  The Bank also documents in its assessment, both at hedge inception 
and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of 
hedged items.

For a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are 
recognized in capital funds.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in capital funds are recycled to the income statement in the periods in which the hedged item will affect profit or loss (for 
example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in capital funds at that time remains in capital funds and is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in the income 
statement.  When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in capital funds is immediately 
transferred to the income statement.

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.  Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify 
for hedge accounting are recognized immediately in the income statement.

 2.3.3 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of condition when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

 2.3.4 Sale and Repurchase Agreements

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (such as Securities Purchased Under Reverse Repurchase Agreements) are recorded at fair value 
through profit or loss.  The Bank enters into short-term purchases of securities under reverse repurchase agreements of substantially identical 
securities with the BSP.  Interest earned on resale agreements are reported as interest income.

 2.3.5 Impairment of Financial Assets

The Bank assesses at each statement of condition date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (events) has 
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Bank about certain 
loss events, including, among others: significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency 
in interest or principal payments; it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; the disappearance of 
an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified 
with the individual financial assets in the group.

• Assets carried at amortized cost

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and 
individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial asset with 
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for 
which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortized cost has been incurred, 
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit loss that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement.  If loans or 
held-to-maturity investments have a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest 
rate determined under the contract.  As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value 
using an observable market price.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., 
on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other 
relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the 
debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash 
flows of the assets in the Bank and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Bank.  Historical 
loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on 
which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with changes in related observable 
data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of 
changes in the probability of losses in the group and their magnitude).  The methodology and assumptions used for estimated future cash flows 
are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment.  Such loans are written off after all the necessary 
procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income statement.

If in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed 
by adjusting the allowance account.  The amount of the reversal is recognized in the income statement.

• Assets carried at fair value

The Bank assesses at each statement of condition date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired.  In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of security below 
its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale securities, the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognized in profit or loss – is removed from capital funds and recognized in the income statement.  Impairment losses recognized 
in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.  If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a 
debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the income statement.
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• Assets carried at cost

The Bank assesses at each statement of condition date whether there is objective evidence that any of the unquoted equity securities and 
derivative assets linked to and required to be settled in such unquoted equity instruments, which are carried at cost may be impaired.  The 
amount of impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount of the equity security and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar asset.  Impairment losses on assets carried at cost cannot be reversed.

2.3.6 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities include deposit liabilities, bills payable, derivative financial liabilities and accrued taxes and other liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the instrument.  All interest related charges are 
recognized as Interest Expense in the income statement.

Deposit liabilities and bills payable are recognized initially at fair value, which is the issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of direct 
issue costs.  Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption 
value is recognized in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently valued at fair value with changes in fair value charged to income 
statement.

Accrued taxes and other liabilities are recognized initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amortized cost less settlement 
payments.

Dividend distributions to shareholders are recognized as financial liabilities when the dividends are approved by the Board and the BSP.

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of condition only when the obligations are extinguished either through discharge, 
cancellation or expiration.

2.4 Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use.  
Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.  
When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and their related accumulated depreciation and impairment losses are removed from 
the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in income for the period.
  
Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment  3 - 5 years
Transportation equipment       5 years

   
 Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.

 An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount (see Note 2.9).
 
 The residual values and estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
statement of condition date.

 An item of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year the item is derecognized. 

2.5 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even 
if the timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment 
that has resulted from past events, for example, legal disputes or onerous contracts. 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at 
the statement of condition date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Any reimbursement expected to be 
received in the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if virtually certain as a separate asset, not exceeding the amount of the 
related provision.  Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole.  In addition, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values, where time value of money 
is material.

Provisions are reviewed at each statement of condition date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount 
to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements. 

Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are not 
recognized in the financial statements.

2.6 Revenue and Cost Recognition

2.6.1 Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement for all instruments measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest 
income or interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset or financial liability.  When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.  The calculation includes all fees and points 
paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or 
discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognized 
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.6.2 Service Charges, Fees and Commissions

Service charges, fees and commissions are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.  Commission and fees 
arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party – such as the arrangement of the acquisition of 
debt instruments or other securities – are recognized on completion of the underlying transaction.  Other service fees are recognized based on the 
applicable service contracts, usually on a time-appropriate basis.  

2.6.3 Trading and Securities Gain

Trading and securities gain is recognized when the ownership of the security is transferred to the buyer and is computed as the difference between 
the selling price and the carrying amount of the security.  Trading and securities gain also results from the mark-to-market valuation of the securities 
at the valuation date.

2.7 Leases

Leases, which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating 
lease payments are recognized as expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such as maintenance 
and insurance, are expensed as incurred.
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 2.8 Foreign Currency Transactions

• Functional and Presentation Currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (the functional currency).  The financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Bank’s functional 
currency.  The financial statements of the Bank’s foreign currency deposit unit (FCDU) which is reported in its functional currency, US 
dollars, are translated using the prevailing exchange rate at the statement of condition date for the statement of condition and profit and 
loss accounts.

• Transaction and Balances

The accounting records of the Bank’s regular banking unit are maintained in Philippine pesos while the FCDU are maintained in US 
dollars, its functional currency.  Foreign currency transactions during the period are translated into the functional currency at exchange 
rates which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement.
 

2.9 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Bank’s premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment and other resources are subject to impairment testing whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash 
flow evaluation.  Impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit.  

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may no longer exist and the carrying amount of 
the asset is adjusted to the recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.
 
2.10 Employee Benefits

• Retirement Benefit Obligations 

Pension benefits are provided to employees through a defined benefit plan, as well as a defined contribution plan.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary.  The legal obligation for any benefits from this kind of pension 
plan remains with the Bank, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been acquired.  Plan assets may include assets 
specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as well as qualifying insurance policies.  The Bank’s defined benefit pension plan 
covers all regular full-time employees.  The pension plan is tax-qualified, noncontributory and administered by a trustee.  

The liability recognized in the statement of condition for defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation (DBO) at the statement of condition date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognized 
actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.  The DBO is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.  
The present value of the DBO is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality 
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating 
to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are not recognized as an expense unless the total unrecognized gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the 
obligation and related plan assets.  The amount exceeding this 10% corridor is charged or credited to profit or loss over the employees’ 
expected average remaining working lives.  Actuarial gains and losses within the 10% corridor are disclosed separately.  Past-service costs 
are recognized immediately in the income statement, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining 
in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions into an independent entity such as the 
Social Security System.  The Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed 
contribution. The contributions recognized in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.

• Profit-sharing and Bonus Plans

The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit 
attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after certain adjustments.  The Bank recognizes a provision where it is contractually obliged to pay 
the benefits, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

• Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including holiday entitlement) remaining at the statement of 
condition date.  They are included in the Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities account at the undiscounted amount that the Bank expects 
to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

2.11 Income Taxes

Current income tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting 
period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the statement of condition date.  They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable 
to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.  All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a 
component of tax expense in the income statement.

Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences at the statement of condition date between the tax base 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Under the balance sheet liability method, with certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of condition date and reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of condition date.

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in the income statement.  Only changes in deferred 
tax assets or liabilities that relate to a change in value of assets or liabilities that is charged directly to capital funds are charged or credited directly 
to capital funds.

2.12 Trust Operations

The Bank commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, 
retirement benefit plans and other institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are 
not assets of the Bank.

2.13 Capital Funds

Preferred and common stocks are determined using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Fair value gain on available-for-sale securities pertains to mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities.

2.14 Financial Risk Management

2.14.1 Strategy in Using Financial Instruments

By their nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments (including derivatives).  The Bank accepts deposits 
from customers at fixed and floating rates, and for various periods, and seeks to earn above-average interest margins by investing these funds in 
high-quality assets.  The Bank seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds, lending and investing for longer periods at higher 
rates, while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.

The Bank also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions in traded and over-the-counter instruments, including derivatives, to take 
advantage of short-term market movements in equities and bonds and in currency and interest rate prices. 
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To manage the financial risk for holding financial assets and liabilities, the Bank operates an integrated risk management system to address the risks 
it faces in its banking activities, including liquidity, interest rate, credit and market risks.  The Bank’s risk management objective is to adequately and 
consistently evaluate, manage, control, and monitor the risk profile of the Bank’s statements of condition to optimize the risk-reward balance and 
maximize return on the Bank’s capital.  The Bank’s Risk Management Committee (RMC) has overall responsibility for the Bank’s risk management 
systems and sets risks management policies across the full range of risks to which the Bank is exposed.  The Bank’s RMC places trading limits 
on the level of exposure that can be taken in relation to both overnight and intra-day market positions.  With the exception of specific hedging 
arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures associated with these derivatives are normally offset by entering into counterbalancing 
positions, thereby controlling the variability in the net cash amounts required to liquidate market positions.

Within the Bank’s overall risk management system, Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is responsible for managing the Bank’s statements of 
condition, including the Bank’s liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange related risks.  In addition, ALCO formulates investment and financial 
policies by determining the asset allocation and funding mix strategies that are likely to yield the targeted statement of condition results.

Separately, the Risk Management Group (RMG) is tasked with managing credit risk, which is the risk that the counterpart in a transaction may 
default, and market risk, which is the risk of future loss from changes in the pricing of financial instruments.

The RMG is mandated to adequately and consistently evaluate, manage, control, and monitor the over-all risk profile of the Bank’s activities across 
the different risk areas (i.e. credit, market and liquidity, and operational) to optimize the risk-reward balance and maximize return on capital.  RMG 
has responsibility for the setting of risk policies across the full range of risks to which the Bank is exposed to.

In the performance of its function, RMG has the following responsibilities:

• It is responsible for policy formulation in coordination with the relevant businesses/functions and ensures that proper approval for the 
manuals / policies is obtained from the appropriate body.

• It then disseminates down the approved policies to the relevant businesses/functions after which, pertinent authorities are delegated down 
to the businesses/functions to guide them in the conduct of their businesses/functions.   RMG then performs compliance monitoring 
and review to ensure approved policies are adhered to.

• It is responsible for clarifying interpretations of risk policies / guidelines raised by the Business Heads / Units.

• When adverse trends are observed in the account/portfolio, RMG is responsible for flagging these trends and ensuring relevant policies 
for problem accounts/portfolio management are properly applied.  

• RMG is responsible for the direct management of accounts in the Bank’s Non-Performing Loan (NPL) portfolio as well as supervision 
over loans and property-related items in litigation and ensure that appropriate strategies are formulated to maximize collection and/ or 
recovery of these assets. 

• It is also responsible for regular review and monitoring of accounts under their supervision and ensuring that the account’s loan 
classification is assessed timely and accurately.

2.14.2 Market Risk

The Bank’s exposure to market risk, the risk of future loss from changes in the price of a financial instrument, relates primarily to its holdings in 
foreign exchange instruments, debt securities and derivatives.  The Bank manages its risk by identifying, analyzing and measuring relevant or likely 
market risks.  Market Risk Management recommends market risk limits based on relevant activity indicators for approval by the Bank’s RMC and 
Board. 

The Bank’s market risk management limits are generally categorized as limits on:

• Value-at-risk (VaR) – The RMG computes the value-at-risk benchmarked at a level which is a percentage of projected earnings.  The 
Bank uses the VaR model to estimate the daily potential loss that the Bank can incur from its trading book, based on a number of 
assumptions with a confidence level of 99%.  The measurement is designed such that exceptions over dealing limits should only arise in 
very exceptional circumstances.

• Stop loss – The RMG sets the amount of each risk-bearing activity at a percentage of the budgeted annual income for such activity.

• Nominal position – The RMG sets the nominal amount of U.S. dollar denominated instruments at the BSP-mandated U.S. dollar 
overbought position limit.

• Trading volume – The RMG sets the volume of transactions that any employee may execute at various levels based on the rank of the 
personnel making the risk-bearing decision.

• Earnings-at-risk – The RMG computes the earnings-at-risk based on a percentage of projected  annual net interest income.

The Bank uses the VaR model to estimate the daily potential loss that the Bank can incur from its trading book.  VaR is one of the key measures 
in the Bank’s management of market risk.  VaR is defined as a statistical estimate of the maximum possible loss on a given position during a time 
horizon within a given confidence interval.  The Bank uses a 99% confidence level and a 260-day observation period in VaR calculation.  The Bank’s 
VAR limit is established as a percentage of projected earnings and is used to alert senior management whenever the potential losses in the Bank’s 
portfolios exceed tolerable levels.  

Because the VaR measure is tied to market volatility, it therefore allows management to react quickly and adjust its portfolio strategies in different 
market conditions in accordance with its risk philosophy and appetite.  The VaR model is validated through back-testing.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give rise to some limitations, 
including the following:

• A 1-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within that period.  This is considered to be a realistic 
assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a prolonged period.

• A 99% confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level.  Even within the model used, there is a one percent 
probability that losses could exceed the VaR.

• VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and does not reflect exposures that may arise on positions during the trading day.

• The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes may not always cover all possible scenarios, 
especially those of an exceptional nature.

• The VaR measure is dependent upon the Bank’s position and the volatility of market prices.  The VaR of an unchanged position reduces 
if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.

 
A summary of the VaR position of the Bank’s trading portfolios at December 31, 2007 follows:

 VaR Stress VaR

Foreign currency risk P    302,881 P 823,244

Interest rate risk – Peso 10,355,418 37,235,688

Interest rate risk – USD 37,817 398,966

Total P                                  10,696,116 P                                  38,457,898
     

The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognized by supplementing VaR limits with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including 
limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading portfolio.  In addition, the Bank uses a wide range of stress tests to model the 
financial impact of a variety of exceptional market scenarios on individual trading portfolios and the Bank’s overall position.

Stress VaR is also performed on all portfolios as a complementary measure of risk. While VaR deals with risk during times of normality, stress 
testing is used to measure the potential effect of a crisis or low probability event.

2.14.2.1 Foreign Exchange Risk

The Bank manages its exposure to effects of fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates by maintaining foreign currency exposure within the 
existing regulatory guidelines and at a level that it believes to be relatively conservative for a financial institution engaged in that type of business.
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The Bank’s net foreign exchange exposure is computed as its foreign currency resources less foreign currency liabilities.  BSP regulations impose 
a cap of 20% of unimpaired capital or U.S.$50 million, whichever is lower, on the consolidated excess foreign exchange holdings of banks in 
the Philippines .  In the case of the Bank, its foreign exchange exposure is primarily foreign exchange trading with corporate accounts and other 
financial institutions.  The Bank, as a market participant in the Philippine Dealing System, may engage in proprietary trading to take advantage 
of foreign exchange fluctuations.

The Bank’s foreign exchange exposure during the day is guided by the limits set forth in the Bank’s Risk Policy Manual.  These limits are within 
the prescribed ceilings mandated by the BSP.  At the end of each day, the Bank reports to the BSP on its compliance with the mandated foreign 
currency exposure limits. 

The following tables set out the composition of the Bank’s financial resources and liabilities as to currency as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:

            

2007

Foreign

Currency Peso Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P 586,314,875 P 478,976,567 P 1,065,291,442

Due from other banks 3,729,208,963 38,911,449 3,768,120,412

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 64,009,564 7,166,606,879 7,230,616,443

Available-for-sale securities 5,111,883,644 643,417,037 5,755,300,681

Held-to-maturity investments 2,422,120,447 2,904,000,296 5,326,120,743

Loans and receivables 619,863,782 728,153,800 1,348,017,582

Liabilities:

Deposit liabilities 9,042,957,059 3,468,053,644 12,511,010,703

Bills payable 1,613,516,517 6,120,729,794 7,734,246,311

Derivative financial instruments 581,876,416 51,099,482 632,975,898

Accrued taxes and other liabilities 14,649,204 101,028,511 115,677,715

2006

Foreign

Currency Peso Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P  767,847,024 P 1,194,008,261 P 1,961,855,285

Due from other banks 2,011,526,500 142,442,049 2,153,968,549

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 357,285,384 6,984,565,993 7,341,851,377

Available-for-sale securities 751,484,152 5,053,594,469 5,805,078,621

Held-to-maturity investments 1,977,507,120 2,088,306,441 4,065,813,561

Loans and receivables - 739,023,976 739,023,976

Liabilities:

Deposit liabilities 5,333,520,162 3,107,640,096 8,441,160,258

Bills payable 1,916,482,151 7,566,288,043 9,482,770,194

Derivative financial instruments 214,442,242 113,660,089 328,102,331

Accrued taxes and other liabilities - 96,827,217 96,827,217

The Bank’s foreign exchange risk is measured as a component of the VaR model presented in Note 2.14.2.

2.14.2.2 Interest Rate Risk

The Bank prepares a gap analysis to measure the sensitivity of its resources, liabilities and off-statement of condition positions to interest rate 
fluctuations.  The focus of analysis is the impact of changes in interest rates on accrual or reported earnings.  This analysis would give management 
a glimpse of maturity and re-pricing profile of its interest sensitive resources and liabilities.  An interest rate gap report is prepared by classifying all 
resources and liabilities into various time buckets according to contracted maturities or anticipated repricing dates, and other applicable behavioral 
assumptions.  The difference in the amount of resources and liabilities maturing or being repriced in any time period category would then give the 
Bank an indication of the extent to which it is exposed to the risk of potential changes in net interest income.

The following table shows the amounts of the Bank’s resources and liabilities that are subject to different interest rate arrangements as of December 
31, 2007 (amounts in thousands):

 Resources Liabilities

Subject to floating interest rates P 5,011,400 P 17,807,733

Subject to fixed interest rates 18,717,276 2,246,300

Non-interest bearing 838,034 939,877

P 24,566,710 P 20,993,910
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The analyses of the groupings of resources, liabilities and off-statement of condition items as of December 31, 2007 based on expected interest 
realization or recognition are presented below (amounts in thousands):

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one 
year to

five years

More
than five

years
Non-rate
sensitive Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P    1,065 P     - P     - P     - P     - P    1,065

Due from other banks 3,650 118 - - - 3,768

Investments 502 1,094 6,852 2,633 7,231 18,312

Loans and other
      receivables 77 458 193 620 - 1,348

Other resources - - - - 74 74

Total Resources 5,294 1,670 7,045 3,253 7,305 24,567

Liabilities and Equity:

Deposit liabilities 4,071 1,190 4,913 1,541 796 12,511

Bills payable 7,212 473 50 - - 7,735

Other liabilities - - - - 748 748

Total Liabilities 11,283 1,663 4,963 1,541 1,544 20,994

Equity - - - - 3,573 3,573

Total Liabilities and
Equity 11,283 1,663 4,963 1,541 5,117 24,567

On-book Gap  ( 5,989 ) 7 2,082 1,712 2,188 -

Cumulative On-book
Gap   ( 5,989 ) ( 5,982 ) ( 3,900 ) ( 2,188 ) - -

Contingent Resources 3,844 4,176 1,240 - - 9,260

Contingent Liabilities 3,184 4,267 1,304 - - 8,755

Off-book Gap 660  ( 91 ) ( 64 ) - - P       505

Cumulative Total Gap  ( P    5,329 ) ( P    5,413 ) ( P    3,395 ) ( P    1,683 ) P       505 P       505

   
The Bank’s interest rate risk is measured as a component of the VaR model presented in Note 2.14.2.

2.14.2.3 Other Price Risk

The Bank’s exposure to other price risk arising from equity securities is limited, as its holdings of listed shares consist only of Philippine Long 
Distance Telephone Company (PLDT) preferred shares with a total balance of P155,000 as of December 31, 2007. 

2.14.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that there are insufficient funds available to adequately meet the credit demands of the Bank’s customers and repay deposits 
on maturity.  The Bank manages liquidity risk by holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to ensure short-term funding requirements 
are met and by maintaining a balanced loan portfolio which is repriced on a regular basis.  In addition, the Bank seeks to maintain sufficient 
liquidity to take advantage of interest rate and exchange rate opportunities when they arise.

The analyses of the maturity groupings of resources, liabilities and equity as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, in accordance with the account 
classifications of the BSP, are presented below (amounts in millions).  The liability balances disclosed in the following tables are based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.  Such undiscounted cash flows may differ from the amounts included in the statement of condition because certain items 
in the statement of condition are based on discounted cash flows.

2007

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one
year to

five years

More
than five

years Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P           1,065 P        - P        - P        - P           1,065

Due from other banks 3,650 118 - - 3,768

Loans and 
      receivables 73 24 631 620 1,348

Investments 7,533 1,093 7,061 2,625 18,312

Other resources - - 64 10 74

      Total Resources 12,321 1,235 7,756 3,255 24,567

Liabilities and Equity:

Deposit liabilities 2,822 808 3,243 6,251 13,124

Bills payable 7,274 494 50 - 7,818

Other liabilities - - - 746 746

     Total Liabilities 10,096 1,302 3,293 6,997 21,688

Equity - - - 3,573 3,573

Total Liabilities and
Equity 10,096 1,302 3,293 10,570 25,261

On-book Gap  2,225  ( 67 ) 4,463  ( 7.315 ) ( 694 )

Cumulative On-book
Gap   2,225  2,158 6,621  ( 694 ) -

Contingent Resources 3,844 4,176 1,240 - 9,260

Contingent Liabilities 3,184 4,267 1,304 - 8,755

Off-book Gap 660  ( 91 ) ( 64 ) - P              505

Cumulative Total Gap  P           2,885  P           2,727 P           7,126  ( P              189 ) ( P              189 )
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2006

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one
year to

five years

More
than five

years Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P           1,962 P        - P        - P        - P           1,962

Due from other banks 2,097 - 57 - 2,154

Loans and
      receivables 13 91 322 313 739

Investments 7,345 - 2,791 7,076 17,212

Other resources - - - 104 104

      Total Resources 11,417 91 3,170 7,493 22,171

Liabilities and Equity:

Deposit liabilities 4,545 94 1,806 1,996 8,441

Bills payable 8,625 412 550 - 9,587

Other liabilities - - 425 - 425

     Total Liabilities 13,170 506 2,781 1,996 18,453

Equity - - - 3,822 3,822

Total Liabilities and
Equity 13,170 506 2,781 5,818 22,275

On-book Gap  ( 1,753 ) ( 415 ) 389  1,675  ( 104 )

Cumulative On-book
Gap   ( 1,753 ) ( 2,168 ) ( 1,779 ) ( 104 ) -

Contingent Resources 2,832  ( 2,690 ) ( 3,576 ) -  ( 3,434 )

Contingent Liabilities 8,675 4,214  ( 8,112 ) ( 5,943 ) ( 1,166 )

Off-book Gap ( 5,843 ) ( 6,904 ) 4,536 5,943  ( 2,268 )

Cumulative Total Gap  ( P           7,596 ) ( P         14,915 ) ( P           9,990 ) ( P           2,372 ) ( P           2,372 )

2.14.4 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transaction may default and arises from lending, treasury, derivatives and other activities undertaken 
by the Bank.  The Bank manages its credit risk and loan portfolio through the RMG, which undertakes several functions with respect to credit risk 
management.

The RMG undertakes credit analysis and review to ensure consistency in the Bank’s risk assessment process.  The RMG performs risk ratings 
for corporate accounts and risk scoring for consumer accounts.  It also ensures that the Bank’s credit policies and procedures are adequate to 
meet the demands of the business.  The RMG is also responsible for developing procedures to streamline and expedite the processing of credit 
applications.

The RMG also undertakes portfolio management by reviewing the Bank’s loan portfolio, including the portfolio risks associated with particular 
industry sectors, regions, loan size and maturity, and development of a strategy for the Bank to achieve its desired portfolio mix and risk profile.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower or issuer, or 
groups of borrowers or issuers, and to geographical and industry segments.  Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual 
or more frequent review.  Limits on the level of credit risk by product, industry sector and by country are approved quarterly by the RMC.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital 
repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits when appropriate.  Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining 
collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.

The RMG reviews the Bank’s loan portfolio in line with the Bank’s policy of not having significant unwarranted concentrations of exposure to 
individual counterparties, in accordance with the BSP’s prohibitions on maintaining a financial exposure to any single person or group of connected 
persons in excess of 25% of its Net Worth.

The following table sets out the carrying amount of the Bank’s exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2007 (amounts in thousands).

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

Loans and
Receivables

Investment
Securities

Neither past due nor impaired:
Grade: Unclassified P      4,833,412 P 1,348,018 P  18,306,383

   

The Bank does not have any financial assets that are individually or collectively impaired, nor does it have any significant balances that are past due 
but not impaired.

The Bank holds some collateral against loans to customers in the form of deposits and money market investments; fixed, floater and zero coupon 
bonds and notes guaranteed by the government; fixed, floater or zero coupon bonds issued by domestic corporations; and listed and publicly traded 
liquid equity issues.  The market values of collaterals are based on the previous day’s closing price and are revalued daily.  Collateral generally is 
not held over loans, due from other banks and investment securities, except when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and securities 
borrowing activities. 

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against neither past due nor impaired financial assets as of December 
31, 2007 is shown below:

Equities P 97,605,829

Debt securities 58,759,279

Others 15,178,679

Total P 171,543,787
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The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location.  An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting 
date is shown below:

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

Loans –
excluding Other

Receivables
Investment 
Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial intermediaries P      4,833,411,854 P         305,580,000 P      3,680,139,036

Manufacturing - 619,863,783

Real estate, renting and
business activities - 18,553,229 126,502,762

Holding companies - - 20,606,188

Government - - 14,479,134,781

Other community, social
and personal activities - 399,685,142 -

P      4,833,411,854 P      1,343,682,154 P    18,306,382,767

Concentration by location:

Philippines P      1,124,792,652 P      1,343,682,154 P    15,008,868,617

Other 3,708,619,202 - 3,297,514,150

P      4,833,411,854 P      1,343,682,154 P    18,306,382,767

2.15  Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to the Bank’s:

•	 failure	to	comply	with	defined	bank	operational	procedures;
•	 inability	to	address	fraud	committed	internally	or	externally;	
•	 inability	to	handle	system	failures;	and	
•	 inability	to	cope	with	the	impact	of	external	events.

The Bank manages its operational risks by having policies to minimize its expected losses, allocating capital for the unexpected losses, and having 
insurance and/or a business continuity plan to prepare for catastrophic losses. 

True to its commitment to sound management and corporate governance, the Bank considers operational risk management as a critical element in 
the conduct of its business. Under the Group’s Operational Risk Management (ORM) Framework, the Board is ultimately responsible for providing 
leadership in the management of risk in the Bank. The business and service unit heads, as risk owners, are responsible for identifying, assessing and 
limiting the impact of risk in their businesses.  The RMG provides the common risk language and management tools across the Bank.

Since 2006, the RMG has been conducting workshops with management and their operational risk coordinators to promote risk consciousness, 
and to instill the discipline of risk self-assessment.

In 2007, the ORM Policy Manual, which defines the Bank’s minimum requirements that must be strictly adhered to by all units within the BDO 
Group, was officially released to the merged business and service units and subsidiaries. Alignment of their respective policies to this manual has 
been on-going.  

Operational risks are monitored to assess, measure and eventually manage/mitigate risks using appropriate management tools (e.g., identification 
of Key Risk Indicators and Key Controls; Key Controls Self-Assessment or KCSA; building of the loss database, etc.).

2.16 Capital Management 
 
2.16.1 Regulatory Capital 
 
The Bank’s lead regulator, the BSP, sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank.  In implementing current capital requirements, the BSP 
requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets.

Under current banking regulations, the combined capital accounts of each bank should not be less than an amount equal to ten percent of its risk 
assets.  The qualifying capital of the Bank for purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets ratio is total equity excluding:

a.  unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the BSP;
b. total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to directors, officers, stockholders and related interests (DOSRI); 
c.  deferred tax asset or liability; 
d. goodwill;  
e. sinking fund for redemption of redeemable preferred shares; and,
f. other regulatory deductions.

Risk assets consist of total assets after the exclusion of cash on hand, due from BSP, loans covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans 
or acceptances under letters of credit to the extent covered by margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the Monetary Board of 
the BSP.

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of 
the business.  The impact of the level of capital on shareholder’s return is recognized by the Bank as well as the need to maintain a balance between 
the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Bank is in compliance with the capital adequacy ratio requirement of the BSP. The Bank’s capital to risk 
assets ratio for combined credit, market and operational risk stood at 30.69% and 37.80% as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Under an existing BSP circular, commercial banks must meet a minimum capital threshold amounting to P2.4 billion.  As of December 31, 2007, 
the Bank has satisfactorily complied with this externally imposed capitalization requirement.

There have been no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the period.  

2.16.2 Capital Allocation

The allocation of capital between specific operations and activities is, to a large extent driven by optimization of the return achieved on the capital 
allocated.  The amount of capital allocated to each operation or activity is based primarily upon the regulatory capital, but in some cases the 
regulatory requirements do not reflect fully the varying degree of risk associated with difference activities.  In such cases the capital requirements 
may be flexed to reflect differing risk profiles subject to the overall level of capital to support a particular operation or activity not falling below the 
minimum required for regulatory purposes.  The process of allocating capital to specific operations and activities is undertaken independently of 
those responsible of the operation and is subject to review by the ALCO.

Although maximization of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to 
particular operations or activities, it is not the sole basis used for decision making. Synergies with other operations and activities, the availability of 
management and other resources, and the fit of the activity with the Bank’s longer term strategic objectives.  The Bank’s policies in respect of capital 
management and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Board.
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3.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Bank’s financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS require management to make judgments and estimates that affect amounts 
reported in the financial statements and related notes.  Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under circumstances.  Actual results may likely differ 
from these estimates and the differences could be significant.

3.1 Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

(a) Held-to-maturity investments
 

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in classifying non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity.  This classification requires significant judgment.  In making this 
judgment, the Bank considers its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.  If the Bank fails to keep these investments at 
maturity (other than for the allowed specific circumstances, for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity) it will be required 
to reclassify the entire class to available-for-sale securities.  The investments would therefore be measured at fair value and not at amortized 
cost.  However, the tainting provision will not apply if the sales or reclassifications of held-to-maturity investments are so close to maturity 
or the financial asset’s call date that changes in the market rate of interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value; 
occur after the Bank has collected substantially all of the financial asset’s original principal through scheduled payments or prepayments; or are 
attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the control of the Bank, is nonrecurring and could not have been reasonably anticipated by the 
Bank.  If the entire class of held-to-maturity investments is tainted, the fair value would increase by P330 million in the financial statements 
with a corresponding entry in the Fair Value Gain on Available-for-sale Securities account in the statement of changes in equity.

(b) Impairment of available-for sale financial assets

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39, in determining when an investment is permanently impaired.  This determination requires 
significant judgment.  In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an 
investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry 
and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow.

If the assumptions made regarding the duration and extent to which the fair value is less than its cost will not hold, the Bank would incur 
an additional P71.0 million loss in its 2007 financial statements, representing the transfer of the total revaluation reserve to the income 
statements.

(c)  Operating Leases

The Bank has entered into various lease agreements as a lessee.  Critical judgment was exercised by management to distinguish each lease 
agreement as either an operating or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the 
properties covered by the agreements. 

Rent expense charged to operations amounted to P16,469,871 and P15,383,795 in 2007 and 2006, respectively (see Note 21).

(d)  Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies.  Policies on recognition and disclosure of provision 
and disclosure of contingencies are discussed in Note 2.5 and relevant disclosures are presented in Note 21.

3.2  Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of condition date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of resources and liabilities within the next financial year:

a) Impairment losses on financial assets (loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale securities)

The Bank reviews its loan and held-to-maturity investments portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis.  In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank makes judgments as to whether there is any observable 

data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the portfolio before the decrease can be identified 
with an individual item in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the 
payment status of borrowers or issuers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group.  
Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment 
similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the 
amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

The Bank carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires the extensive use of accounting estimates and judgment.  Significant 
components of fair value measurement were determined using verifiable objective evidence such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
volatility rates.  However, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Bank utilized different valuation methods and assumptions.  
Any change in fair value of these financial resources and liabilities would affect profit and loss and equity.

 No impairment losses have been recognized in 2007 and 2006.

(b) Fair value of financial resources and liabilities

The following tables summarize the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial resources and liabilities not presented on the Bank’s 
statement of condition at their fair value.  

     

2007

Cost Fair Value

Due from BSP P 1,065,291,442 P 1,065,291,442

Due from Other Banks 3,768,120,412 3,768,120,412

Available-for-sale Securities – at cost 5,500,100 5,500,100

Held-to-maturity Investments 5,326,120,743 5,656,088,781

Loans and Other Receivables 1,348,017,582 1,348,017,582

Deposit Liabilities 12,511,010,703 11,371,315,009

Bills Payable 7,734,246,311 7,734,246,311

2006

Cost Fair Value

Due from BSP P 1,961,855,285 P 1,961,855,285

Due from Other Banks 2,153,968,549 2,153,968,549

Available-for-sale Securities – at cost 5,500,100 5,500,100

Held-to-maturity Investments 4,065,813,561 4,467,228,862

Loans and Other Receivables 739,023,976 739,023,976

Deposit Liabilities 8,441,160,258 8,441,160,258

Bills Payable 9,482,770,194 9,482,770,194

(i) Due from other Banks and BSP

Due from BSP pertains to deposits made by the Bank to BSP for clearing and reserve requirements.  Due from other banks includes 
interbank placements and items in the course of collection.  The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is their 
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carrying amount.  The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-
market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity, which for short term deposits approximates the nominal 
value. 

(ii) Available-for-sale securities

The fair value of available-for-sale securities is determined by direct reference to published price quoted in an active market for traded 
securities.  On the other hand, non-quoted available-for-sale securities are carried at cost because the fair value cannot be reliably 
determined either by reference to similar financial instruments or through valuation technique.  

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Fair value for held-to-maturity assets is based on market prices.  Where this information is not available, fair value has been estimated 
using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and yield characteristics or through valuation techniques using 
discounted cash flow analysis. 

(iv) Loans and other receivables

Loans and other receivables are net of provisions for impairment, if any.  The estimated fair value of loans and receivables represents 
the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received.  Expected cash flows are discounted at current market 
rates to determine fair value. 

(v)  Deposits and borrowings

The estimated fair value of demand deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount 
repayable on demand. The estimated fair value of long-term negotiable certificates of deposits and other borrowings without quoted 
market price is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. 

(c)  Fair value of derivatives  

The fair values of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market are determined through valuation techniques using 
the net present value computation.

Valuation techniques are used to determine fair values which are validated and periodically reviewed. To the extent practicable, models use 
observable data, however, areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make 
estimates.  Changes in assumptions could affect reported fair value of financial instruments.  The Bank uses judgment to select a variety of 
methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each statement of condition date.  

(d) Useful Life of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 

The Bank estimates the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected 
to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed periodically and are 
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other 
limits on the use of the assets.  In addition, estimation of the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is based on 
collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets.  It is possible, however, that future 
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts 
and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated 
useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets.

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment net of accumulated depreciation, and amortization amounted to P38,142,045 and 
P45,232,907 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively (see Note 9).

(e) Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at each statement of condition date and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets amounted to P11,140,844 and P28,796,450 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively (see Note 10).

(f ) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Except for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, PFRS requires that an impairment review be performed when certain impairment 
indicators are present.  The Bank’s policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is discussed in detail in Note 2.9.  Though 
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and 
reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment 
loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations.

No impairment losses have been recognized in 2007 and 2006.

(g) Retirement Benefits and Other Retirement Benefits

The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of pension and other retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of certain 
assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts.  Those assumptions are described in Note 18 and include, among others, discount 
rates, expected return on plan assets and salary increase rate.  In accordance with PFRS, actual results that differ from the assumptions are 
accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in such future 
periods.

The defined benefit asset and net unrecognized actuarial losses amounted to P3,272,110 and P8,214,012, respectively, in 2007 and P8,173,700 
and P8,426,780, respectively, in 2006 (see Note 18).

4. DUE FROM OTHER BANKS

The balance of this account represents regular deposits with the following:

Note 2007 2006

Local banks 20 P       73,964,202 P 170,338,964

Foreign banks 3,694,156,210 1,983,629,585

P    3,768,120,412 P 2,153,968,549

These deposits earned interest at rates ranging from 0.25% to 5.88% per annum in 2007 and 0.25% to 5.90% per annum in 2006. 

A breakdown of this account by currency follows:

2007 2006

U.S. dollar P 3,695,206,897 P 1,978,919,190

Peso 38,911,449 142,442,049

Other foreign currencies 34,002,066 32,607,310

P    3,768,120,412 P 2,153,968,549
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5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
 

This account is composed of the following:

Note 2007 2006

Securities purchased under reverse
 repurchase agreements P 4,449,594,083 P 6,452,964,583

Government securities 2,132,337,558 376,819,306

Derivatives 13 648,391,423 511,454,984

Other securities 293,379 612,504

Aggregate market value P    7,230,616,443 P 7,341,851,377
   

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, except derivatives, consist of various treasury bills and other securities issued by the government 
and other private corporations that earn interest at 5.50% to 10.88% per annum in 2007 and 4.6% to 14.5% per annum in 2006.

Except for derivatives and securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements, the amounts presented have been determined directly by 
reference to published price quoted in an active market.  The fair value of derivative financial assets is determined through valuation techniques 
using net present value computation.  The fair value of securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements is not individually determined as 
the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

The Bank recognized fair value gains and losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting to P11,226,348 in gains and 
P44,714,843 in losses in 2007 and 2006, respectively, which were included as part of Trading and Securities Gain in the income statements.

The total interest income earned on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted to P315,892,135 in 2007 and P672,378,433 in 
2006.

6. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

This account is composed of the following:

2007 2006

Debt securities:

Government securities P 2,655,985,444 P 3,130,567,556

Other debt securities 3,093,660,137 2,568,742,965

Equity securities:

Quoted 155,000 100,268,000

Not quoted 5,500,100 5,500,100

Aggregate market value P    5,755,300,681 P 5,805,078,621
   
  

As to currency, the account is composed of the following:

2007 2006

Peso P       643,417,037 P 5,053,594,469

Foreign currency 5,111,883,644 751,484,152

P    5,755,300,681 P 5,805,078,621

   
Changes in the Bank’s holdings of available-for-sale securities are summarized below:

2007 2006

Balance at beginning of year P       5,805,078,621 P 5,378,391,668

Additions 2,467,166,034 2,911,507,166

Fair value losses  ( 208,586,562 ) ( 42,558,827 )

Disposals  ( 1,781,989,887 ) ( 2,213,225,556 )

Foreign currency revaluation  ( 526,367,525 ) ( 229,035,830 )

Balance at end of year P    5,755,300,681 P 5,805,078,621
  

Available-for-sale securities include government bonds and corporate debt securities which earn interest at 4.53% to 12.08% per annum in 2007 
and 5.6% to 13% per annum in 2006.

Other debt securities include the collateralized debt obligation, bond-linked notes and host contract of credit-linked notes (CLN)

The embedded derivatives were bifurcated and presented separately from the CLN (see Note 13). A CLN is an instrument under which the 
issuer issues a note to the investor wherein both parties agreed that in the occurrence of a credit event in relation to the reference entity, the CLN 
accelerates and the investor is delivered the defaulted asset of the reference entity, or paid a net settlement amount equal to the market price of the 
defaulted asset or reference obligation adjusted for any transaction unwind costs.

Quoted equity securities represent preferred shares of PLDT acquired in connection with the debt restructuring of PLDT’s subsidiary, Pilipino 
Telephone Corporation. The Bank sold its remaining holdings of PLDT common shares in 2007, which were previously in the form of preferred 
shares convertible to common shares. The gain on sale of the common shares amounted to P92,523,700 and is included as part of the Other Income 
account in the 2007 income statement.

 The fair values of available-for-sale securities have been determined directly by reference to published prices in an active market.

The total interest income earned on available-for-sale securities amounted to P427,441,773 in 2007 and P385,878,093 in 2006.
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7. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

 This account is composed of the following:

2007 2006

Government securities P        4,989,850,220 P        4,065,813,561

Other debt securities 336,270,523 -

P        5,326,120,743 P        4,065,813,561
   
The maturity profile of these investments is set out in the following table:

2007 2006

Within one year P       776,792,528 P 292,283,820

Beyond one year, within five years 2,120,553,942 2,569,675,103

More than five years 2,428,774,273 1,203,854,638

P  5,326,120,743 P 4,065,813,561
        
 
 As to currency, the account is composed of the following:

2007 2006

Peso P 2,904,000,296 P 2,088,306,441

Foreign currency 2,422,120,447 1,977,507,120

P  5,326,120,743 P 4,065,813,561

 
 Changes in the Bank’s holdings of held-to-maturity investments are summarized below: 

2007 2006

Balance at beginning of year P 4,065,813,561 P 2,634,255,602

Additions 3,004,390,765 1,873,206,561

Maturity  ( 1,537,179,496 ) ( 335,718,712 )

Foreign currency revaluation  ( 206,904,087 ) ( 105,929,890 )

Balance at end of year P  5,326,120,743 P 4,065,813,561
 
Held-to-maturity investments earn interest at rates ranging from 5.84% to 15.63% per annum in 2007 and 6.40% to 15.60% per annum in 
2006.

In 2006, the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) tendered an exchange offer to the holders of certain maturing government securities to exchange these 
transactions into new Benchmark Bonds.  In relation to the exchange offer of the BTr, the SEC and BSP issued their respective circulars which 
allow the exchange transaction to be exempted from the tainting provision of PAS 39, provided that the participating banks chose to retain the 
held-to-maturity classification of the Benchmark Bonds received.  The BSP Circular further requires that the difference between the fair value of the 
Benchmark Bonds and the carrying amount of the maturing government securities shall not be recognized as gains or losses in the income statement 
but shall be amortized over the life of the Benchmark Bonds.  On September 4, 2006, the Bank participated in the exchange offer of the BTr by 
exchanging P328,247,292 in held-to-maturity government securities.  The fair value of the Benchmark Bonds received amounted to P351,717,874, 
resulting in a gain of P23,471,582.  In compliance with the SEC and BSP, the Bank deferred the recognition of the gain and amortized it over 
the life of the Benchmark Bonds.  Total amount of gain amortized amounted to P2,346,415 and P765,996 in 2007 and 2006, respectively, and is 
shown as part of Trading and Securities Gain in the income statement.  The deferred gain amounting to P20,359,171 and P22,705,586 in 2007 
and 2006, respectively, is presented as part of Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities in the statement of condition  (see Note 14).

 The fair value of held-to-maturity investments amounted to P5,656,088,781 and P4,467,228,862 in 2007 and 2006, respectively, determined 
using as reference published prices in an active market.

The total interest income earned on held-to-maturity investments amounted to P365,911,194 in 2007 and P285,043,279 in 2006.

8. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Loans and other receivables consist of the following:

Note 2007 2006

Receivables from customers:

Individuals: 20

Consumer P 20,158,327 P 21,723,444

Commercial 70,931,328 103,982,452

91,089,655 125,705,896

Corporate:

Commercial 1,252,592,498 603,240,718

1,343,682,153 728,946,614

Other receivables 20 4,335,429 10,077,362

P    1,348,017,582 P 739,023,976

The maturity profile of the Bank’s loans and other receivables follows:

2007 2006

Within one year P       99,245,205 P 114,317,849

Beyond one year, within five years 631,099,538 311,526,217

More than five years 617,672,839 313,179,910

P    1,348,017,582 P 739,023,976
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As to security, loans and other receivables are classified into:

2007 2006

Secured:

Real estate mortgage P       13,288,128 P 15,834,176

Chattel mortgage 5,182,385 5,358,117

Others 93,636,188 103,783,361

Unsecured 1,235,910,881 614,048,322

P    1,348,017,582 P 739,023,976
 

 Total unsecured loans include a past due employee loan amounting to P50,793 in 2007.

 Loans amounting to P619,863,783 in 2007 bear variable interest rates while loans amounting to P728,153,799 in 2007 and P728,946,614 in 
2006 bear fixed interest rates.  

9. BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT

 The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization at the beginning and end of 2007 and 2006 are shown below.

Transportation 
Equipment

Furniture,  
Fixtures and 
Equipment

Leasehold 
Improvements Total

December 31, 2007

Cost P 6,409,750 P     28,880,998 P     38,210,475 P     73,501,223

Accumulated depreciation
and amortization ( 6,047,039 ) ( 16,546,880 ) ( 12,765,259 ) ( 35,359,178 )

Net carrying amount P 362,711 P    12,334,118 P    25,445,216 P    38,142,045

December 31, 2006

Cost P 8,436,750 P     83,208,649 P     32,585,312 P   124,230,711

Accumulated depreciation
and amortization ( 6,605,685 ) ( 66,123,360 ) ( 6,268,759 ) ( 78,997,804 )

Net carrying amount P       1,831,065 P     17,085,289 P     26,316,553 P     45,232,907

Transportation 
Equipment

Furniture,  
Fixtures and 
Equipment

Leasehold 
Improvements Total

January 1, 2006

Cost P     18,951,331 P     62,324,596 P     27,253,798 P   108,529,725

Accumulated depreciation
and amortization ( 14,315,626 ) ( 58,950,410 ) ( 3,337,175 ) ( 76,603,211 )

Net carrying amount P 4,635,705 P       3,374,186 P     23,916,623 P     31,926,514
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 A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment at the beginning and end of 2007 and 2006 is shown 
below:

Transportation 
Equipment

Furniture,  
Fixtures and 
Equipment

Leasehold 
Improvements Total

Balance at January 1, 2007, 
  net of accumulated 
  depreciation and amortization P      1,831,065 P     17,085,289 P     26,316,553 P     45,232,907

Additions -  2,771,908 5,715,163 8,487,071

Disposals – net
Depreciation and amortization
  charges for the year (

-

1,468,354

 (

) (

422

7,522,657

) (

) (

90,000

6,496,500

) (

) 

90,422

15,487,511

)  

)

Balance at December 31, 2007
  net of accumulated
  depreciation and amortization P 362,711 P    12,334,118 P    25,445,216 P    38,142,045

Balance at January 1, 2006, 
  net of accumulated 
  depreciation and amortization P      4,635,705 P       3,374,186 P     23,916,623 P     31,926,514

Additions - 20,884,053 8,668,689 29,552,742

Disposals – net
Depreciation and amortization
  charges for the year

(

(

484,510

2,320,130

)

) (

-

7,172,950 ) (

-

6,268,759

 (

) (

484,510

15,761,839

)  

)

Balance at December 31, 2006
  net of accumulated
  depreciation and amortization P 1,831,065 P     17,085,289 P     26,316,553 P     45,232,907

   
The BSP requires that investments in bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment do not exceed 50% of the Bank’s unimpaired capital.  As of 
December 31, 2007, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with this requirement.

 
10. OTHER RESOURCES 

This account consists of:

Notes 2007 2006

Deferred charges P 12,276,061 P 15,563,689

Deferred tax assets – net 19 11,140,844 28,796,450

Defined benefit asset 18 3,272,110 8,173,700

Others 8,411,918 5,893,534

P    35,100,933 P 58,427,373

      

 Deferred charges consist mainly of capitalized software costs that are amortized over 3 to 10 years.  Amortization charges related to software costs 
amounted to P2,507,662 and P2,287,999 in 2007 and 2006, respectively, and are presented as part of Depreciation and Amortization in the 
income statements.

11. DEPOSIT LIABILITIES

The maturity profile of the Bank’s deposit liabilities follows:

2007 2006

Within one year P       6,406,472,862 P 6,135,189,630

Beyond one year, within five years 6,104,537,841 2,305,970,628

P     12,511,010,703 P 8,441,160,258

The classification of the Bank’s deposit liabilities as to currency follows:

2007 2006

Peso P        3,468,053,644 P 3,107,640,096

Foreign currency 9,042,957,059 5,333,520,162

P     12,511,010,703 P 8,441,160,258
         

Interest rates on deposit liabilities range between 0.20% and 10% per annum in 2007 and 2006.

Management considers the carrying amount of the short-term deposit liabilities recognized in the statement of condition to be a reasonable 
approximation of their fair value.  Including the fair value of the Bank’s outstanding long-term negotiable certificates of deposit (LTNCDs) and 
time deposits with maturities of more than one year measured using discounted cash flows, the aggregate fair value of the Bank’s deposit liabilities 
as of December 31, 2007 is estimated to be P11,371,315,009 (Note 3.2).

On April 26, 2007, the Monetary Board of the BSP authorized the Bank to issue up to P5,000,000,000 worth of fixed rate or zero coupon 
LTNCDs in one or more tranches.  The first tranche, consisting of P2,191,400,000 in zero coupon LTNCDs, was issued on June 18, 2007 and 
will mature on December 18, 2012.  These LTNCDs are presented net of discount and P16.7 million in capitalized transaction costs as part of the 
Time Deposit Liabilities account in the statements of condition.

12. BILLS PAYABLE

The maturity profile of bills payable follows:

2007 2006

Within one year P       7,734,246,311 P 8,932,770,194

Beyond one year up to five years - 550,000,000

P        7,734,246,311 P 9,482,770,194
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The breakdown of the account, as to currency follows:

2007 2006

Peso P       6,120,729,794 P       7,566,288,043

Foreign currency 1,613,516,517 1,916,482,151

P        7,734,246,311 P 9,482,770,194

 
Bills payable with maturities of one year or less represent the Bank’s borrowings from other local banks and entities which bear interest rates ranging 
from 4.5% to 10.25% per annum in 2007 and 3% to 10.5% per annum in 2006 (see Note 20).  A portion of the bills payable pertains to securities 
under reverse repurchase agreements with the BSP which were sold, without recourse, to clients.  These securities amounted to P2,813,938,893 and 
P4,786,223,999 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.  

13. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Bank uses derivative instruments for both hedging and non-hedging purposes. Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign 
and domestic currency, including undelivered spot transactions. Currency and interest swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows 
for another. Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates or a combination of all these. No exchange of principal takes place, 
except for certain currency swaps. The Bank’s credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail to perform 
their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the 
contracts and the liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Bank assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for 
its lending activities.

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognized on the statement of 
condition but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do 
not indicate the Bank’s exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative instruments become favorable or unfavorable as a result of fluctuations in 
market interest rates, foreign exchange rates and other underlying relative to their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional amount of derivative 
financial instruments on hand, the extent to which instruments are favorable or unfavorable, and thus the aggregate fair values of derivative financial 
assets and liabilities, can fluctuate significantly from time to time. The fair values of derivative instruments held are set out below.

Notional Fair Values

Amount Assets Liabilities

December 31, 2007

Cross currency swaps P 454,844,947 P 158,871,252 P 32,541,752

Forward contracts 110,923,277 309,246,163 388,768,955

Interest rate swaps 1,465,000,000 172,250,760 145,521,358

Credit default swaps 3,088,700,000 8,023,248 66,143,833

P        5,119,468,224 P    648,391,423 P 632,975,898
  
 

Notional Fair Values

Amount Assets Liabilities

December 31, 2006

Cross currency swaps P 101,932,841 P 153,811,385 P 82,051,486

Forward contracts 159,010,707 182,016,702 28,560,537

Interest rate swaps 2,375,150,000 139,301,585 76,435,951

Credit default swaps 5,231,000,000 36,325,312 141,054,357

P        7,867,093,548 P    511,454,984 P 328,102,331

The fair value gains or losses recognized as net of Trading and Securities Gain – net account in the income statements determined using a valuation 
technique amounted to a P8,003,658 gain and a P44,714,843 loss in 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing changes in fair value of the 
derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Bank.

14. ACCRUED TAXES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

 A breakdown of this account follows:

Note 2007 2006

Accrued taxes P 26,917,160 P 18,071,997

Deferred gain on 
 bond exchange 7 20,359,171 22,705,586

Others 68,401,384 56,049,634

P    115,677,715 P 96,827,217
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15. EQUITY
 
 15. 1 Capital Stock

 Capital stock as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 consists of:

Shares Amount

2007 2006 2007 2006

Preferred shares – P1,000 par value
Authorized – 1,250,000 shares
Issued and outstanding 1,225,000 1,225,000 P1,225,000,000 P1,225,000,000

Common shares – P1,000 par value
Authorized – 1,250,000 shares
Issued and outstanding

Balance at beginning of year 940,000 625,000 940,000,000 625,000,000

Issued during the year - 315,000 - 315,000,000

 

Balance at end of year 940,000 940,000 940,000,000 940,000,000

 
As of December 31, 2007, the Bank has one stockholder owning 100 or more common shares.

15.2 Preferred Shares and Deposit for Future Stock Subscription 

The following are the features of the Bank’s preferred stock:

a. The Board may specify the terms, conditions, qualifications, restrictions and privileges of the preferred non-voting stock.  All preferred 
shares shall be of equal rank, preference, priority and shall be identical in all respects regardless of series.

b. The holders of serial preferred stock shall be entitled to receive dividends, when, as and if declared by the Board out of funds legally available 
and not before any dividends on the common stock shall be paid or set apart for payments.

c. The holders of the preferred shares shall not be entitled to vote at any meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors or for any 
other purpose or participate in any action taken by the Bank or its stockholders.

Deposits for future stock subscriptions totalling P315 million were converted into common stock after the SEC approved the Bank’s application 
for exemption from registration on August 11, 2006.

 15.3 Fair Value Gain on Available-for-sale Securities
 
 The reconciliation of the fair value gain on available-for-sale securities is as follows (see Note 6):
 

Fair Value Gains
on Available-for- 

sale Securities

Related
Deferred

Tax Total

 Balance as of January 1, 2007 P 137,625,021 P      - P 137,625,021

 Fair value loss ( 208,586,562 ) -  ( 208,586,562 )

Balance as of December 31, 2007 ( P 70,961,541 ) P      -  ( P 70,961,541 )

Balance as of January 1, 2006 P 185,885,463  ( P 5,701,615 ) P 180,183,848

Realization of fair value gain ( 16,290,329 ) 5,701,615 ( 10,588,714 )

Fair value loss ( 31,970,113 ) - ( 31,970,113 )

 Balance as of December 31, 2006 P 137,625,021 P      - P      137,625,021

15.4 Surplus Free

 On December 4, 2006, the Board approved the declaration of a cash dividend of P231 per preferred share and P231 per common share or a total 
of P500,115,000, payable to stockholders on record as of November 30, 2006.  The cash dividend was approved by the BSP on January 18, 2007 
and subsequently paid by the Bank on January 26, 2007.

16. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

Third party information refers to service charges incurred for market data obtained from service providers Reuters, Prebon and Bloomberg (used 
in the Bank’s treasury operations).

17. OTHER EXPENSES

 This account is composed of the following:

2007 2006

Travel P       18,144,764 P 8,557,819

Supervision 10,787,802 6,489,378

Management and professional fees 7,234,845 3,863,162

Repairs and maintenance 5,404,123 5,269,512

Advertising 5,038,545 8,948,932

Security, messengerial and janitorial services 4,816,579 4,072,874

Communication 3,254,599 3,124,614

Transfer fees and charges 2,239,432 2,062,284

 Miscellaneous 12,096,072 10,094,231

P             69,016,761     P             52,482,806
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The total expense recognized by the Bank for employee benefits is analyzed below:

2007 2006

Salaries and wages P       96,844,466 P 65,106,524

Pension – defined benefit plans 7,034,853 1,498,125

Social security and medical benefits 1,372,019 811,304

Others 174,235 500,910

P           105,425,573     P             67,916,863

The Bank maintains a tax-qualified, noncontributory retirement plan covering all regular full-time employees.  The plan is being administered by 
a trustee.  

 The Bank obtained an updated actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2007 to ascertain the amount of retirement benefit cost and the balance of 
the defined benefit asset as of that date in accordance with PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  Actuarial valuations are obtained regularly to update the 
retirement benefit costs and the amount of contributions.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2007 2006

Balance at beginning of year  ( P 33,203,963 ) ( P 12,732,889 )

Interest cost  ( 2,955,153 ) ( 1,515,214 )

Current service cost  ( 4,951,654 ) ( 2,014,557 )

Benefits paid  2,012,446  325,878

Actuarial losses on obligation  ( 2,220,238 ) ( 17,267,181 )

Balance at end of year  ( P  41,318,562 ) ( P 33,203,963 )

 Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2007 2006

Balance at beginning of year P 32,950,883 P 20,332,623

Expected returns on plan assets 3,295,088 2,033,262

Contributions paid 2,133,265 -

Benefits paid  ( 2,012,446 ) ( 325,878 )

Actuarial gains 9,869 10,910,876

Balance at end of year P  36,376,659 P 32,950,883

The defined benefit assets recognized and included as part of Other Resources (see Note 10) in the statements of condition are determined as 
follows:

2007 2006

Present value of obligation  ( P 41,318,562 ) ( P 33,203,963 )

Fair value of plan assets 36,376,659 32,950,883

Deficiency of plan assets  ( 4,941,903 ) ( 253,080 )

Unrecognized actuarial losses  8,214,013 8,426,780

P  3,272,110 P 8,173,700

The amounts of retirement benefits recognized in the income statements are as follows:

2007 2006

Current service costs  P 4,951,654 P 2,014,557

Interest costs 2,955,153  1,515,214

Expected return on plan assets  ( 3,295,088 ) ( 2,033,262 )

Net actuarial gain recognized
 during the year

 
2,423,134 1,616

Retirement benefits P  7,034,853 P 1,498,125

The movements in the defined benefit asset recognized in the books are as follows:

2007 2006

Balance at beginning of year  P 8,173,700 P 9,671,825

Contributions paid 2,133,265 -

Expense recognized  ( 7,034,855 ) ( 1,498,125 )

 Balance at end of year P  3,272,110 P 8,173,700

 The movements in the unrecognized actuarial losses are as follows:

2007 2006

Unrecognized actuarial losses  P 8,426,779 P 2,072,091

Actuarial losses for the year – obligation - 17,267,181

Actuarial gains for the year – plan assets -  ( 10,910,876 )

Actuarial losses recognized during the year  ( 212,766 ) ( 1,616 )

P  8,214,013 P 8,426,780
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For the determination of the retirement benefits, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

2007 2006

Discount rates 8.3% 8.9%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.0% 10.0%

Expected rate of salary increases 10.0% 10.0%

Presented below are the historical information related to the present value of the retirement benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets and excess 
or deficit in the plan (amounts in thousands) as well as experienced adjustments arising on plan assets and liabilities.

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Present value of the obligation P         41,319 P         33,204 P         12,733 P           8,172 P           6,902
 Fair value of the plan assets 36,377 32,951 20,333 18,985 -

Deficit (excess) in the plan P 4,942 P 253  ( P 7,600 ) ( P 10,813 )  P 6,902

 Experience adjustments 
 arising on plan liabilities ( P 1,709 ) P 9,039 * * *

 Experience adjustments 
 arising on plan assets - - * * *

 * Data not available. 

19. TAXES

19.1 Current and Deferred Taxes

 The major components of tax expense for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2007 2006

Reported in income statements

Current tax expense:
Final tax on income from

FCDU at 10% P 4,364,957 P 5,759,439

Minimum corporate income
tax (MCIT) at 2% 3,989,989 2,119,575

Final tax at 20% and 7.5% 55,280,715 55,795,428

63,635,661 63,674,442

Deferred tax expense:
Deferred tax relating to

origination and reversal of
temporary differences 17,655,606 1,725,312

P 81,291,267 P 65,399,754

Reported in statements of changes in
equity (see Note 15.3)
Deferred tax resulting from

realization of fair value gain P  - P       5,701,615

The reconciliation of tax on pretax income computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax expense attributable to continuing operations is as 
follows:

2007 2006

Tax on pretax income at 35%
Adjustment for income subjected to

lower tax rates (

P 189,140,292

55,908,848 ) (

P 182,934,085

104,175,716 )

Tax effects of:
Unrecognized net operating loss

carryover (NOLCO) and other
temporary differences 47,092,809 51,076,618

Non-deductible interest and
other expenses 39,459,724 37,362,261

Unrecognized MCIT 3,989,989 2,119,575

Income from FCDU ( 28,342,251 ) ( 53,387,830 )

Income exempted from income taxes ( 114,140,448 ) ( 50,529,239 )

Tax expense reported in the
income statements P 81,291,267 P 65,399,754

 

The net deferred tax assets as of December 31 related to the following:

Statements of Condition Income Statements Statements of Changes in Equity

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Deferred tax assets:

Unrealized loss on trading securities P     7,124,130 P   12,712,444 P     5,588,314  ( P        590,763 ) P        - P         -

Unrealized foreign exchange losses 2,739,755 -  ( 2,739,755 )  - - -

Unamortized past service cost 1,276,959 1,518,546 241,587 241,586 - -

Unrealized loss on asset conversion - 14,565,460  14,565,460   - - -

Accrual of expenses - - - 2,074,489 - -

Deferred tax liabilities:

Changes in fair values of available
for-sale securities (Note 15) - - - - -   ( 5,701,615 )

Deferred Tax Expense (Income) P  17,655,606 P     1,725,312 P         -  ( P     5,701,615 )

Net Deferred Tax Assets P  11,140,844 P   28,796,450

The Bank is subject to MCIT which is computed at 2% of gross income, as defined under the tax regulations. In 2007 and 2006, the Bank paid 
MCIT since the MCIT was higher than the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) in both years.

The amounts of NOLCO and MCIT as of the end of 2007 for which the related deferred tax assets have not been recognized are shown below:

Amount Tax Effect

NOLCO P 151,324,136 P 52,963,448

MCIT 6,109,563 6,109,563

P  157,433,699 P 59,073,011
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The composition of and movements in the Bank’s NOLCO are as follows:

Year Amount

Applied
in

Prior Years

Applied or 
Expired in 

Current Year
Remaining

Balance
Valid
Until

2007 P 5,390,943 P          - P          - P 5,390,943 2010

2006 145,933,193 - - 145,933,193 2009

P   151,324,136 P          - P          - P   151,324,136

The composition of and movements in the Bank’s MCIT are as follows:

Year Amount

Applied
in

Prior Years

Applied or 
Expired in 

Current Year
Remaining

Balance
Valid
Until

2007 P 3,989,989 P          - P          - P 3,989,989 2010

2006 2,119,574 - - 2,119,574 2009

P       6,109,563 P          - P          - P       6,109,563

 

19.2 Recent Tax Regulation

Revenue Regulation 12-2007

On October 19, 2007, the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued Revenue Regulation (RR) 12-2007 which requires the quarterly computation 
and payment of the MCIT beginning on the income tax return for fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2007. This RR amended certain provisions 
of RR 9-98 which specifically provides for the computation of the MCIT at the end of each taxable year.

Thus, in the computation of the tax due for the taxable quarter, if the computed quarterly MCIT is higher than the quarterly regular corporate 
income tax, the tax due to be paid for such taxable quarter at the time of filing the quarterly corporate income tax return shall be the MCIT which 
is 2% of the gross income as of the end of the taxable quarter.

Republic Act 9337

On May 24, 2005, Republic Act (RA) No. 9337 (“RA 9337”), amending certain sections of the National Internal Revenue Code of 1997 was 
signed into law and became effective beginning November 1, 2005. RCIT rate is increased from 32% to 35% starting November 1, 2005 until 
December 31, 2008 and will be reduced to 30% beginning January 1, 2009.

Prior to the amendment of the Tax Code in 1997, FCDUs were subject to a 10% final tax on interest income from foreign currency loans with 
residents, in lieu of all taxes. However, in 1997, pursuant to RA No. 8424, this exemption was not included. On April 28, 2004, RA No. 9294 was 
approved restoring the tax exemption of offshore banking units and foreign currency deposit units

19.3 Gross Receipts Tax (GRT)

On January 29, 2004, Republic Act 9238 reverted the imposition of GRT on banks and financial institutions.  This law is retroactive from January 
1, 2004.  Under RA 9238, the revised GRT rates are as follows:

a.  On interest, commissions and discounts from lending activities as well as income from financial leasing, on the basis of remaining maturities 
of instruments from which such receipts are derived:

  With maturity period of five years or less  5%
  With maturity period of more than five years  1%
 
b. On dividends and equity shares in the net income of subsidiaries  0%

c. On royalties, rentals of property, real or personal, profits from exchange and all other items treated
 as gross income under Section 32 of the National Internal Revenue Code NIRC  7%

d. On net trading within the taxable year on foreign currency, debt securities, derivatives, and other
 similar financial instruments        7%

Provided, however, that in case the maturity period referred to in paragraph (a) is shortened thru pretermination, then the maturity period shall be 
reckoned to end as of the date of pretermination for purposes of classifying the transaction and the correct rate of tax shall be applied accordingly.

19.4 Documentary Stamp Tax (DST)

DST at rates ranging from P.30 to P2 on each P200 of the face value of the certificate or document are imposed on the following:

a. Bank checks, drafts, or certificate of deposit not bearing interest, and other instruments; and,

b. Bonds, loan agreements, promissory notes, bills of exchange, drafts, instruments and securities issued by the Government or any of its 
instrumentalities, deposit substitute debt instruments, certificates of deposits bearing interest and other not payable on sight or demand.

On February 7, 2004, RA No.9243 was passed amending the rates of DST, the significant provisions of which are summarized below:

a. On every issue of debt instruments, there shall be collected a DST of P1 on each P200 or fractional part thereof of the issue price of any such 
debt instrument;

b. On all sales or transfer of shares or certificates of stock in any corporation, there shall be collected a DST of P.75 on each P200, or fractional 
part thereof, of the par value of such stock;

c. On all bills of exchange or drafts, there shall be collected a DST of P.30 on each P200, or fractional part thereof, of the face value of any such 
bill of exchange or draft; and,

d. The following instruments, documents and papers shall be exempt from DST:

•	 Borrowings	and	 lending	of	 securities	executed	under	 the	Securities	Borrowing	and	Lending	Program	of	a	 registered	exchange,	or	 in	
accordance with regulations prescribed by the appropriate regulatory authority;

•	 Loan	agreements	or	promissory	notes,	the	aggregate	of	which	do	not	exceed	P250,000	or	any	such	amount	as	may	be	determined	by	the	
Secretary of Finance, executed by an individual for his purchase on installment for his personal use;

•	 Sale,	barter	or	exchange	of	shares	of	stock	listed	and	traded	through	the	local	stock	exchange	for	a	period	of	five	years	from	the	effectivity	
of RA 9243;

•	 Fixed	income	and	other	securities	traded	in	the	secondary	market	or	through	an	exchange;

•	 Derivatives	including	repurchase	agreements	and	reverse	repurchase	agreements;
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•	 Bank	deposit	accounts	without	a	fixed	term	or	maturity;	and,

•	 Interbank	call	loans	with	maturity	of	not	more	than	seven	days	to	cover	deficiency	in	reserve	against	deposit	liabilities.

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 20.1 Nature of Related Party Transactions

The significant transactions conducted by the Bank with related parties in the normal course of business are described below:

a. The Bank has loan transactions with its officers and employees. The General Banking Act and BSP regulations provide that in the aggregate, 
loans to DOSRI generally should not exceed the Bank’s total capital funds or 25% of the Bank’s total portfolio, whichever is lower. As of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, total loans extended to DOSRI amounted to P20,107,535 and P21,536,935, respectively. 

 Relative to the DOSRI loans, the following additional information are also presented:

2007 2006

Total outstanding DOSRI loans P 20,107,535 P 21,536,935

Total past due DOSRI loans 50,793 -

% to total loan portfolio 1.49% 0.3%

% of unsecured DOSRI loans to 
 total DOSRI loans 8.14% 1.6%

% of past due DOSRI loans to 
 total DOSRI loans 0.25% -

b. Up to 2005, the Bank had a master service agreement with BDO Securities Corporation (BDO Securities), a related party.  Under the terms of 
the agreement, the Bank shall provide BDO Securities with technical and administrative assistance, including, but not limited to, processing 
and documentation assistance, maintenance and use of premises and equipment, front and back office operations, securities account settlement 
services and the preparation of accounting and other records relating to BDO Securities’ business in exchange for a fee.  The agreement was 
terminated in 2006.  Outstanding receivables from BDO Securities amounted to P2,000,000 in 2007 and P4,139,264 in 2006.    

c. The Bank had outstanding bills payable to BDO totaling US$19,996,125 (P1,061,594,276) as of December 31, 2005, with interest rates 
ranging from 4.1% to 4.5% per annum in 2005.  These liabilities, which were shown as part of the Bills Payable account in the statements of 
condition, were fully paid in 2006.  Interest expenses related to these liabilities amounted to P8,988,535 in 2006 and are included as part of 
the Interest Expense on Bills Payable account in the 2006 income statements.

d. The Bank holds demand deposits from BDO Securities amounting to P26,514,795 as of December 31, 2007, with annual interest rates 
ranging from 0.20% to 3.38% in 2007.  The interest expenses incurred on these deposits amounted to P614,398 in 2007 and are included as 
part of the Interest Expense on Deposit Liabilities account in the income 2007 statement. 

e. The Bank maintains deposits with BDO.  In 2007 and 2006, deposits in BDO amounted to P59,488,013 and P170,338,964, respectively, 
and are included as part of Due from Other Banks in the statements of condition (see Note 4).  The interest rates on these deposits ranged 
from 0.25% to 2% per annum in 2007 and 2006.

f. In July 2007, BDO assigned, without recourse, 138 peso and dollar-denominated commercial loans to the Bank in exchange for cash.  The 
sum paid was equal to the total principal and accrued interest of the loans transferred, which amounted to P7,084,101,261 for the peso-
denominated loans and $24,080,389 for the dollar-denominated loans.  Under the terms of the Deeds of Assignment executed by the parties 
involved, the Bank appointed BDO as its collecting agent for the assigned loans and BDO agreed to collect all amounts due on the assigned 
loans for and on behalf of the Bank.  As of December 31, 2007, the loans were no longer outstanding on the books of the Bank.

g. In December 2007, the Bank’s Board approved the outsourcing of risk management functions to BDO through a Risk Management Service 
Agreement.  The arrangement will allow the Bank to tap the resources and expertise of BDO in the areas covered by the new agreement, 
specifically in the provision of back-up risk management personnel in case of contingencies, the preparation of risk reports, the provision of 
risk management policies and procedures, and the training of the Bank’s risk management personnel.

 20.2 Key Management Personnel Compensation

 The total salaries and short-term benefits received by key management personnel amounted to P41,232,852 and P35,787,267 in 2007 and 2006, 
respectively.

21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Bank:

a. The Bank is a party to a lease agreement covering its office premises, the term of which will end on April 11, 2011.  The future minimum 
rentals payable under this operating lease amounted to P44,512,726 and P56,581,473 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Rent expense, which is shown as part of the Occupancy account in the income statements, amounted to P16,469,871 and P15,383,795 in 
2007 and 2006, respectively.

b. In the normal course of its operations, the Bank has various outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities such as guarantees, 
commitments to extend credit, etc., which are not reflected in the accompanying financial statements.  The Bank recognizes in its books any 
losses and liabilities incurred in the course of its operations as soon as these become determinable and quantifiable.

As of December 31, 2007, the Bank’s management believes that losses, if any, from the above commitments and contingencies will not have a 
material effect on the Bank’s financial statements.

The following is a summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent accounts as of December 31 (amounts in thousands):

2007 2006

Trust department account P 18,608,880 P 179,849

Assets under management 35,575,810 22,799,000

22. TRUST OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the following securities and other properties held by the Bank in fiduciary or agency capacity (for a fee) for its 
customers are not included in the accompanying statements of condition since these are not properties of the Bank:

2007 2006

Investments P 1,579,806,194 P 55,674,358

Others 17,029,074,123 124,174,615

P     18,608,880,317 P 179,848,973

  
The trust operations of the Bank relate mainly to assets under custodianship or safekeeping.  Accordingly, securities and other properties held by 
the Bank in a fiduciary or agency capacity for clients and beneficiaries are not included in the accompanying statements of condition since these 
are not resources of the Bank.
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In compliance with the regulations that govern the Bank’s trust functions, government bonds (included as part of Held-to-maturity Investments) 
owned by the Bank with a total face value of P161 million and P2 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are deposited with the 
BSP.

23. ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

The Bank manages certain investments in special deposit accounts, debt securities, equity securities and other assets on behalf of its clients.  Some 
of these assets under management (AUM) are included on the financial statements as an asset or liability of the Bank, whereas the remainder are 
accounts held in trust or held for safekeeping for the Bank’s clients and have been excluded from the accompanying statements of condition.

The composition of the Bank’s AUM as of December 31 is set out in the following table (amounts in millions):

2007 2006

On - Balance Sheet P  17,368 P  11,242

Off - Balance Sheet 35,576 22,799

P   52,944 P   34,041

The Bank earns fees in return for its investment facilitation services. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Bank recognized 
P96.31 million and P105.76 million, respectively, in AUM-related fees and other income (including trust fees), which are distributed among 
various accounts under Other Income account in the income statements.

24. SELECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

 The following are some of the financial performance indicators of the Bank:

2007 2006

Return on average equity

Net income 13.28% 12.92%

Average total capital accounts

Return on average assets

Net income 1.90% 2.72%

Average total assets

Net interest margin

Net interest income 1.88% 2.45%

Average interest earning assets
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